
 
 

 
   

 
 

 

 
 

 

 
  

 

 
 

 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

 

  

COUNCIL MEETING AGENDA 
Thursday, February 9, 2023 at 7:00 p.m. 
By video conference – The meeting will be live streamed on YouTube at the following link: 
https://www.youtube.com/channel/UCCx9vXkywflJr0LUVkKnYWQ 

1. ROLL CALL 

Verbal roll call by the Clerk. 

2. APPROVAL OF THE AGENDA 

THAT the Agenda and any Addendum distributed for the February 9,2023 meeting 
of Council, be approved. 

3. DECLARATION OF INTEREST BY MEMBERS 

Members of Council are required to state any pecuniary interest in accordance with 
the Municipal Conflict of Interest Act. 

4. APPROVAL OF MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING 

THAT the minutes of the regular meeting of Council of January 12, 2023, be 
adopted. 

5. PROCLAMATIONS, DELEGATIONS AND PRESENTATIONS 

5.1. Proclamation & Flag Raising: Black History Month – February 2023 

5.2. Proclamation & Delegation: Non-Profit Appreciation Week – February 
13-19, 2023 

A delegation from Michele Fisher, Executive Director, Dufferin Community 
Foundation, regarding Non-Profit Appreciation Week. 

COUNCIL AGENDA – February 9, 2023 – Page 1 

https://www.youtube.com/channel/UCCx9vXkywflJr0LUVkKnYWQ


 
 

 
 

 
 

 

 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

 

 
 

5.3. International Plowing Match 

5.3.1. International Plowing Match Committee 

A presentation from the International Plowing Match Committee 
regarding the upcoming Plowing Match in Amaranth. 

5.3.2. Director of Development & Planning’s Report – Financial 
Implications of In-Kind Requests 

REPORT TO BE DISTRIBUTED WHEN AVAILABLE 

6. PUBLIC QUESTION PERIOD 

To submit your request to ask a question, please contact us at info@dufferincounty.ca
or 519-941-2816 x2500 prior to 4:30 p.m. on February 8, 2023. 

7. PRESENTATION AND CONSIDERATIONS OF REPORTS 

7.1. Infrastructure and Environmental Services Minutes – January 26, 2023 

THAT the minutes of the Infrastructure and Environmental Services meeting 
held on January 26, 2023, be adopted. 

7.2. General Government Services Minutes – January 26, 2023 

THAT the minutes of the General Government Services meeting held on 
January 26, 2023, and the recommendations set out, be adopted. 

GENERAL GOVERNMENT SERVICES – January 26, 2023 – ITEM #2 
Emergency Readiness Fund Grant Request – Grand Valley 

THAT the report of the Manager – Preparedness, 911 & Corporate Projects 
dated January 26, 2023, regarding a Municipal Emergency Readiness Fund – 
Grant Request, be received; 

AND THAT the request for the acquisition and installation of hybrid 
meeting/communications equipment by the Town of Grand Valley in the 
amount of $10,000, be approved. 

GENERAL GOVERNMENT SERVICES – January 26, 2023 – ITEM #3 

COUNCIL AGENDA – February 9, 2023 – Page 2 

mailto:info@dufferincounty.ca


 

 
 

 

 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

  
  
 

 
 

 

 
 

 

 

Annual Cost of Living Adjustment Policy (non-union staff) 

THAT the report from the Chief Administrative Officer, dated January 26, 
2023, regarding the Annual Cost of Living Policy (non-union staff), be 
received; 

AND THAT the Annual Cost of Living Adjustment policy for non-union staff 
be approved; 

AND THAT Council Remuneration by-law be updated to reflect the same 
policy for annual cost of living adjustments; 

AND THAT cost of living adjustment for 2023 be set at 4% with an effective 
date of July 1, 2023. 

7.3. Health and Human Services Minutes – January 26, 2023 

THAT the minutes of the Health and Human Services meeting held on 
January 26, 2023, and the recommendations set out, be adopted. 

HEALTH & HUMAN SERVICES – January 26, 2023 – ITEM #1 
2023 Draft Budget 

THAT Dufferin County allocate the following funds be added to the Draft 
2023 budget: 

 $50,000 to Orangeville Food Bank 
 $10,000 to Grand Valley Food Bank 
 $10,000 to Shepherd’s Cupboard Food Bank, Shelburne 

7.4. Community Development and Tourism Minutes – January 26, 2023 

THAT the minutes of the Community Development and Tourism meeting 
held on January 26, 2023, and the recommendations set out, be adopted. 

COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT & TOURISM – January 26, 2023 – ITEM #1 
Ontario Plowmen’s Association 

THAT County Council support the International Plowing Match (IPM) 
happening in Dufferin in 2023; 

COUNCIL AGENDA – February 9, 2023 – Page 3 



 

 
 

 
 

 

 
 

 

 

 
 

 

 
 

AND THAT Staff be directed to work with the IPM Committee to compile a 
comprehensive list of in-kind contributions requested and to estimate the 
financial implications of same; 

AND THAT the IPM Committee be invited to County Council on February 9th, 
2023. 

7.5. Director of Community Services’ Report – Request for Continuation of 
Funding – Family Transition Place 

A report from the Director of Community Services dated February 9, 2023 to 
seek approval for the continuation of funding for Family Transition Place. 

THAT the report of the Director of Community Services, dated February 9, 
2023, titled Request for Continuation of Funding – Family Transition Place, be 
received; 

AND THAT Council approve the continuation of funding at the existing level 
for a new twenty (20) year period; 

AND THAT Council approve the signing of a Letter of Intent to provide Family 
Transition Place with a formal funding commitment, for twenty (20) years, to 
support their application to the Canada Mortgage and Housing Corporation 
(CMHC); 

AND THAT staff be directed to work with Family Transition Place on the 
creation of a new Operating Agreement to stipulate the terms regarding 
timeline, operations, administration and funding to meet the requirements 
set out in O. Reg 367/11 under the Housing Services Act, 2011 for the new 
Community Housing Project. 

7.6. Chief Paramedic & Manager of Corporate Finance, Treasurer’s Report – 
Community Paramedic Donations 

A report from the Chief Paramedic and Manager of Corporate Finance, 
Treasurer, dated February 9, 2023, to seek Council permission transfer 
donations related to the Community Paramedic program to a program 
specific trust fund. 

COUNCIL AGENDA – February 9, 2023 – Page 4 



 
 

 

 
 

 
 

 

 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

 

THAT the report of the Chief and Manager of Corporate Finance, Treasurer, 
dated February 9, 2023, regarding Community Paramedic Donations, be 
received; 

AND THAT the 2022 donation of $75,000 be transferred to a new Community 
Paramedics Trust Fund; 

AND THAT future donations to the Community Paramedic Program be 
transferred to the Community Paramedic Trust Fund. 

7.7. Manager – Preparedness, 911 & Corporate Projects’ Report – On-
Demand Transit Pilot Project 

A report from the Manager – Preparedness, 911 & Corporate Projects, dated 
February 9, 2023, to provide an update on the On-Demand Transit Pilot 
Project following review of the Request for Proposals (RFP) submitted. 

THAT the report of the Manager – Preparedness, 911 & Corporate Projects, 
dated February 9, 2023, regarding the establishment of an On-Demand 
Transit program, be received; 

AND THAT staff be directed to investigate alternate solutions to enhance 
transportations services for seniors through Dufferin County Community 
Support Services. 

7.8. Chief Administrative Officer’s Report – Vaccination Policy Review – Non-
Union Employees and Council 

REPORT TO BE DISTRIBUTED WHEN AVAILABLE 

7.9. Chief Administrative Officer’s Report – Monthly Report from Outside 
Boards 

A report from the Chief Administrative Officer, dated February 9, 2023, to 
provide Council with an update of activities from outside boards and 
agencies. 

THAT the report of the Chief Administrative Officer, dated February 9, 2023, 
with respect to Reports from Outside Boards, be received. 

COUNCIL AGENDA – February 9, 2023 – Page 5 



 
 

 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

 

 
 

 
 

 
 

  

7.10. Chief Administrative Officer’s Report – Additional Staffing 
Requirements – 2023 DRAFT Budget 

A report from the Chief Administrative Officer, dated February 9, 2023, to 
provide supplementary information to outline how and why additional 
staffing requirements are proposed in the 2023 DRAFT Budget. 

THAT the report of the Chief Administrative Officer, dated February 9, 2023, 
regarding Additional Staffing Requirements - 2023 DRAFT Budget, be 
received. 

7.11. Budget Presentation 

A presentation from the Manager of Corporate Finance, Treasurer on the 
draft 2023 budget. 

8. CORRESPONDENCE 

9. NOTICE OF MOTIONS 

10. MOTIONS 

10.1. Diversity, Equity and Inclusion Community Advisory Committee 
(DEICAC) Appointment 

THAT Councillor _______________ be appointed as Council’s representative on 
the Diversity, Equity and Inclusion Community Advisory Committee. 

11. CLOSED SESSION 

11.1. Closed Session Report – Ontario Nurses Association (ONA) Agreement 
(Municipal Act Section 239 (2)(d) – Labour relations or employee 
negotiations) 

11.2. Closed Session Report – Paramedic Compensation Adjustment 
(Municipal Act Section 239 (2)(d) – Labour relations or employee 
negotiations) 

COUNCIL AGENDA – February 9, 2023 – Page 6 



 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
  

 
 

 

 
 

 
 

 

12. BY-LAWS 

2023-07 A by-law to ratify the actions of the Warden and Clerk for executing an 
agreement between the Corporation of the County of Dufferin and 
Hills of Headwaters Collaborative Ontario Health Team. (Collaboration 
Amending Agreement)
Authorization: Council – January 12, 2023 

2023-08 A by-law to ratify the actions of the Warden and Clerk for executing an 
agreement between the Corporation of the County of Dufferin and His 
Majesty the King in right of Ontario as represented by the Minister of 
Municipal Affairs and Housing. (Municipal Modernization Funding 
Amending Transfer Payment Agreement)
Authorization: Council – April 16, 2020 

2023-09 A by-law to ratify the actions of the Warden and Clerk for executing an 
agreement between the Corporation of the County of Dufferin and 
Family Transition Place. (Lease – Mel Lloyd Lease)
Authorization: Council – February 9, 2023 

THAT By-laws 2023-07 through to 2023-09, inclusive, be read a first, second and 
third time and enacted. 

13. OTHER BUSINESS 

14. CONFIRMATORY BY-LAW 

2023-xx A by-law to confirm the proceedings of the Council of the Corporation 
of the County of Dufferin at its meeting held on February 9, 2023. 

THAT by-law 2023-xx be read a first, second and third time and enacted. 

15. ADJOURNMENT 

THAT the meeting adjourn. 

COUNCIL AGENDA – February 9, 2023 – Page 7 



  

 

 

 

 
 

 

 

 
 

 

 

DUFFERIN COUNTY COUNCIL MINUTES 
Thursday, January 12, 2023 at 7:00 p.m. 
Video Conference 

Council Members Present: Warden Wade Mills (Shelburne) 
Councillor John Creelman (Mono) 

Councillor Guy Gardhouse (East Garafraxa)
Councillor Chris Gerrits (Amaranth) 

Councillor Shane Hall (Shelburne) 
Councillor Earl Hawkins (Mulmur) 

Councillor Janet Horner (Mulmur)(arrived at 7:03 p.m.) 
Councillor Gail Little (Amaranth) 

Councillor James McLean (Melancthon) 
Councillor Fred Nix (Mono) 

Councillor Lisa Post (Orangeville) 
Councillor Philip Rentsch (Grand Valley) 

Councillor Steve Soloman (Grand Valley) 
Councillor Todd Taylor (Orangeville) 

Councillor Darren White (Melancthon) 

Staff Present: Sonya Pritchard, Chief Administrative Officer 
Michelle Dunne, Clerk 

Rebecca Whelan, Deputy Clerk
Cody Joudry, Director of Development & Tourism 

Rohan Thompson, Director of People & Equity 
Anna McGregor, Director of Community Services 

Brenda Wagner, Administrator of Dufferin Oaks 
Tom Reid, Chief Paramedic 

Warden Mills called the meeting to order at 7:01 p.m. 

Warden Mills announced that the meeting is being live streamed and publicly broadcast. 

The recording of this meeting will also be available on our website in the future. 

COUNCIL MINUTES – January 12, 2023– Page 1 



  

 
  

 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 
  

 

 
 

 

 

  

Upcoming committee meetings will be held by video conference on Thursday, January 
26, 2023 at the following times: 
Infrastructure & Environmental Services Committee – 9:00 a.m. 
General Government Services Committee – 11:00 a.m. 
Health & Human Services Committee – 1:00 p.m. 
Community Development & Tourism Committee – 3:00 p.m. 

1. LAND ACKNOWLEDGEMENT STATEMENT 

Warden Mills shared the Land Acknowledgement Statement. 

2. ROLL CALL 

The Clerk verbally took a roll call of the Councillors in attendance. 

3. APPROVAL OF THE AGENDA 

Item #7.8 – Budget Presentation was removed from the agenda. 

Councillor Horner joined the meeting at 7:03 p.m. 

Moved by Councillor Gerrits, seconded by Councillor Taylor 

THAT the Agenda and any Addendum distributed for the January 12, 2023 
meeting of Council, as amended, be approved. 

-Carried- 

4. DECLARATION OF INTEREST BY MEMBERS 

Members of Council are required to state any pecuniary interest in accordance 
with the Municipal Conflict of Interest Act. 

5. APPROVAL OF MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING 

Moved by Councillor Creelman, seconded by Councillor Gardhouse 

THAT the minutes of the regular meeting of Council of October 13, 2022 and 
the Inaugural meeting of Council of December 8, 2022, be adopted. 

-Carried- 

COUNCIL MINUTES – January 12, 2023– Page 2 



  

 
 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 
 

 

  

PROCLAMATIONS, DELEGATIONS AND PRESENTATIONS 

6. Presentation: Source Water Protection Plan Amendments 

Ilona Feldmann, Grand River Conservation Authority, and Ryan Post, Nottawasaga 
Valley Conservation Authority, were in attendance to discuss Source Water 
Protection Plan agreement amendments and request Council’s support. 

Moved by Councillor Gerrits, seconded by Councillor Gardhouse 

THAT Council receive the Source Water Protection report, dated December 
21, 2022, regarding updates to the South Georgian Bay Lake Simcoe and 
Grand River Source Protection Plans; 

THAT Council hereby supports the proposed updates to the South Georgian 
Bay Lake Simcoe and Grand River Source Protection Plans outlined in the 
pre-consultation notice dated November 10, 2022; 

AND THAT staff be directed to forward a copy of this resolution to the 
Grand River Source Protection Authority and the Nottawasaga Valley Source 
Protection Authority. 

-Carried- 

7. Presentation: Hills of Headwaters Collaborative 

Tracy Coffin, Executive Director, Hills of Headwaters Collaborative, presented to 
Council regarding the Hills of Headwaters Ontario Health Team Collaborative 
Agreement update. 

Moved by Councillor Creelman, seconded by Councillor Little 

THAT Council endorse and sign the updated Hills of Headwaters 
Collaborative Ontario Health Team Collaborate Agreement. 

-Carried- 

8. PUBLIC QUESTION PERIOD 

There were no questions received from the public. 

COUNCIL MINUTES – January 12, 2023– Page 3 



  

 
 

 

 

 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

  

 

PRESENTATION AND CONSIDERATIONS OF REPORTS 

9. Diversity, Equity and Inclusion Community Advisory Committee Minutes – 
October 12, 2022 

Minutes from the Diversity, Equity and Inclusion Community Advisory Committee 
meeting held on October 12, 2022. 

Moved by Councillor Horner, seconded by Councillor Post 

THAT the minutes of the Diversity, Equity and Inclusion Community 
Advisory Committee meeting held on October 12, 2022, be adopted. 

-Carried- 

10. Manager of Corporate Finance, Treasurer’s Report – 2022 Reserve 
Contributions 

A report from the Manager of Corporate Finance, Treasurer, dated January 12, 
2023, to seek Council permission to reallocate funds to and from specific reserves 
for the year ending 2022. 

Moved by Councillor Hall, seconded by Councillor Hawkins 

THAT the report of the Manager of Corporate Finance, Treasurer, dated 
January 12, 2023, regarding 2022 Reserve Contributions, be received, 

AND THAT the following 2022 reserve transfers be approved: 

Reserve Name Estimated 
Transfer Amount 

Reserve for Housing Programming $200,000  
Reserve for Waste Services $500,000  
Reserve for Children’s Services $350,000  
Reserve for Roads Rehabilitation -$159,257 
Reserve for Roads Equipment -$960,000 

-Carried- 

COUNCIL MINUTES – January 12, 2023– Page 4 



  

 
 

 

 

 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

11. Manager of Corporate Finance, Treasurer’s Report – 2023 Development 
Charges Indexing 

A report from the Manager of Corporate Finance, Treasurer, dated January 12, 
2023, to inform Council of the Development Charge rates for 2023 based on 
annual indexing per the Bylaw 2022-28 Development Charges. 

Moved by Councillor Horner, seconded by Councillor McLean 

THAT the report of the Manager of Corporate Finance, Treasurer, dated 
January 12, 2023, regarding 2023 Development Charge Indexing, be received. 

-Carried- 

Councillor Nix called a Point of Order, requesting to ask questions regarding the report. 

12. Manager of Corporate Finance, Treasurer and Procurement Manager’s 
Report – Fourth Quarter Procurement Report 

A report from the Manager of Corporate Finance, Treasurer, and the Procurement 
Manager, dated January 12, 2023, to provide the quarterly update on all Request 
for Tenders and Request for Proposals in accordance with By-law 2017-33 
Procurement of Goods and Services 2017, Section (4.2.7). 

Moved by Councillor Nix, seconded by Councillor Gardhouse 

THAT the Fourth Quarter Procurement Report, from the Manager of 
Corporate Finance, Treasurer and the Procurement Manager, dated January 
12, 2023, be received. 

-Carried- 

13. Administrator of Dufferin Oaks’ Report – Amendment to Medical Director 
Agreement 

A report from the Administrator of Dufferin Oaks, dated January 12, 2023, to 
outline required changes to the Medical Director agreement to ensure 
compliance with legislation. 

Moved by Councillor Nix, seconded by Councillor Post 

THAT the report of the Administrator, dated January 12, 2023, regarding the 
Medical Director for Dufferin Oaks, be received; 

COUNCIL MINUTES – January 12, 2023– Page 5 



  

 

 
  

 
 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 

 
 

AND THAT the Warden and Clerk be authorized to sign the Memorandum of
Agreement – Medical Director for the term October 1, 2022 to March 31, 
2026. 

-Carried- 

14. MCR Phase II OPA – Schedule B, C, and E Changes 

14.1. Municipal Comprehensive Review Related Correspondence 

Correspondence from the Township of East Garafraxa, dated January 6, 
2023, and the Town of Mono, dated January 12, 2023, regarding the 
Municipal Comprehensive Review process. 

14.2. Director of Development and Tourism’s Report 

A report from the Director of Planning and Tourism, dated January 12, 2023, 
to present the proposed second Official Plan Amendment (OPA) for the 
Dufferin County Municipal Comprehensive Review (MCR) to County Council 
for their review. 

Moved by Councillor Nix, seconded by Councillor Gardhouse 

THAT the report of the Director of Development and Tourism, titled 
MCR Phase II OPA - Schedule B, C, and E Changes, dated January 12,
2023, be received; 

AND THAT staff be directed to host a statutory public open house and 
receive comments from local municipal Councils; 

AND THAT staff be directed to, following receiving feedback and 
conducting the public open house, submit the draft MCR Phase II OPA 
- Schedule B, C, and E Changes and related draft OPA to the Province 
for review. 

IN AMENDMENT 

Moved by Councillor Nix, seconded by Councillor Creelman 

THAT the motion be amended to: AND THAT staff be directed to host 
a statutory public open house using mapping agreeable to local 
municipalities and receive comment from local municipal Councils. 

COUNCIL MINUTES – January 12, 2023– Page 6 



  

 

 

 
 

  
 
 

  
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

 

 

 
 

  

A recorded vote was requested and taken as follows: 

 Yay Nay 
Councillor Creelman (3) x 
Councillor Gardhouse (2) x 
Councillor Gerrits (1) x 
Councillor Hall (2) x 
Councillor Hawkins (1) x 
Councillor Horner (1) x 
Councillor Little (1) x 
Councillor McLean (1) x 
Councillor Mills (2) x 
Councillor Nix (2) x 
Councillor Post (8) x 
Councillor Rentsch (1) x 
Councillor Soloman (1) x 
Councillor Taylor (7) x 
Councillor White (1) x 
Total (34) 7 27 

-MOTION LOST- 

IN AMENDMENT 

Moved by Councillor Nix, seconded by Councillor Creelman 

THAT the motion be amended to: AND THAT staff be directed to 
circulate any changes to local municipalities for review, following 
receiving feedback and conducting the public open house, with 
comments to be returned to the County prior to the March 9, 2023 
County Council meeting, before submitting the draft MCR Phase II OPA
- Schedule B, C, and E Changes and related draft OPA to the Province 
for review. 

A recorded vote was requested and taken as follows: 

 Yay Nay 
Councillor Creelman (3) x 
Councillor Gardhouse (2) x 
Councillor Gerrits (1) x 

COUNCIL MINUTES – January 12, 2023– Page 7 



  

 
 

  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 
 

 Yay Nay 
Councillor Hall (2) x 
Councillor Hawkins (1) x 
Councillor Horner (1) x 
Councillor Little (1) x 
Councillor McLean (1) x 
Councillor Mills (2) x 
Councillor Nix (2) x 
Councillor Post (8) x 
Councillor Rentsch (1) x 
Councillor Soloman (1) x 
Councillor Taylor (7) x 
Councillor White (1) x 
Total (34) 34 0 

-CARRIED- 

MAIN MOTION AS AMENDED: 

Moved by Councillor Nix, seconded by Councillor Gardhouse 

THAT the report of the Director of Development and Tourism, titled 
MCR Phase II OPA - Schedule B, C, and E Changes, dated January 12,
2023, be received; 

AND THAT staff be directed to host a statutory public open house and 
receive comments from local municipal Councils; 

AND THAT staff be directed to circulate any changes to local 
municipalities for review, following receiving feedback and 
conducting the public open house, with comments to be returned to 
the County prior to the March 9, 2023 County Council meeting, 
before submitting the draft MCR Phase II OPA - Schedule B, C, and E 
Changes and related draft OPA to the Province for review. 

-Carried- 

15. Chief Administrative Officer’s Report – Service Optimization and Workforce 
Strategy Update – Space Needs Assessment 

A report from the Chief Administrative Officer, dated January 12, 2023, to 
recommend deferring consideration of the proposed upgrades to both the 

COUNCIL MINUTES – January 12, 2023– Page 8 



  

 

 

 

 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

Edelbrock Centre and 55 Zina Street that were presented to County Council in 
September 2022 (report and proposal attached) until a further review of all 
facilities, space requirements and future options is completed. 

Moved by Councillor Horner, seconded by Councillor Hall 

THAT the report of the Chief Administrative Officer, dated January 12, 2023, 
regarding Service Optimization and Workforce Strategy Update- Space 
Needs Assessment (deferred from September 8, 2022), be received; 

AND THAT the matter be further deferred until such time as a further 
review of all facilities including future requirements and options for 
surplus/under-utilized and tenant occupied/vacant space is completed; 

AND THAT staff be directed to report back on this matter by no later than 
April 2023. 

-Carried- 

16. NOTICE OF MOTIONS 

17. MOTIONS 

18. CLOSED SESSION 

Moved by Councillor Horner, seconded by Councillor Gerrits 

THAT the minutes of the Closed session of Council on October 13, 2022, be 
adopted. 

-Carried- 

19. BY-LAWS 

2023-01 A by-law to authorize the borrowing of money to meet current 
expenditures of the Corporation of the County of Dufferin during
the year 2023. 
Authorization: Council – January 12, 2023 

2023-02 A by-law to ratify the actions of the Warden and Clerk for executing 
an agreement between the Corporation of the County of Dufferin 
and Services and Housing in the Province. (Lease Agreement – Mel
Lloyd Centre) 

COUNCIL MINUTES – January 12, 2023– Page 9 



  

 

 

 

 

 

 
  

 

 

 
 

 

 
 

Authorization: Council – January 12, 2023 

2023-03 A by-law to ratify the actions of the Warden and Clerk for executing 
an agreement between the Corporation of the County of Dufferin 
and Services and Housing in the Province. (Lease Agreement – 53 
Zina St, Orangeville) 
Authorization: Council – January 12, 2023 

2023-04 A by-law to authorize the Warden and Clerk to execute an 
agreement between the Corporation of the County of Dufferin and 
Dr. Gursharan Soor. (Medical Director for Dufferin Oaks Home Long 
Term Care Home) 
Authorization: Council – January 12, 2023 

2023-05 A by-law to amend By-Law 2017-39, being a by-law to govern the 
lands known as the Dufferin County Forest. (Amend to include 
Dufferin Rail Trail & replace Schedule A) 
Authorization: Infrastructure & Environmental Services – September 
22, 2022 

Moved by Councillor Soloman, seconded by Councillor Post 

THAT By-Law 2023-01 through to 2023-05, inclusive, be read a first, second 
and third time and enacted. 

-Carried- 

20. OTHER BUSINESS 

Councillor McLean and Warden Mills thanked the County and municipal staff who 
worked tirelessly through the recent significant weather event. Councillor McLean 
asked if there would be a review of how it was handled and look for areas of 
improvement. Chief Administrative Officer, Sonya Pritchard, noted after every 
significant weather event there is a debrief meeting and consultation with 
stakeholders. A report will be prepared and shared with Council. 

21. CONFIRMATORY BY-LAW 

2023-06 A by-law to confirm the proceedings of the Council of the 
Corporation of the County of Dufferin at its meeting held on 
January 12, 2023. 

COUNCIL MINUTES – January 12, 2023– Page 10 



  

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 
 
 
             

        

Moved by Councillor Nix, seconded by Councillor Creelman 

THAT By-Law 2023-06, be read a first, second and third time and enacted. 
-Carried- 

22. ADJOURNMENT 

Moved by Councillor Gardhouse, seconded by Councillor Taylor 

THAT the meeting adjourn. 
-Carried- 

The meeting adjourned at 8:51 p.m. 

Next meeting: Thursday, February 9, 2023 
Virtual 

Wade Mills, Warden       Michelle Dunne, Clerk 

COUNCIL MINUTES – January 12, 2023– Page 11 



����������	���
��
�����

��������
������������	��
��������
������������� ����!��"#�$%&'(�)*(�+$#,-(�#.�/#0)$&123#0'�4%5(�16�)*(�/*%$&)%1-(�%05�0#)7.#$7+$#,)�89:;<�'(/)#$�%05�)#��/(-(1$%)(�)*(�+(#+-(�=*#�5(5&/%)(�)*(&$�/%$(($'�)#�)*(�/#44#0�>##5?�"*(6�=(%@(�)*(�'#/&%-��CD���E�!�F��GHS.��)%�**1I(%$J�$@&K/&%L3�G-)(2*�'M(%�D'%)G��0)'�*)5N$%�(�9)0J�:5>O;()�'*,��*(0P%0(M@'��#Q(�#2G�*2H$(�$M-��#-/+�/#(R%4425�-��+)#$&�510(2&3?&�-(5'�%A�0&4+$#@('�)*(�B2%-&)6�#.�-&.(�.#$�'#�4%06A�%05�$(+$('(0)'���!��!�!��+������"W"! _+�(�*$#(0*0((0�̀@�1(#&)>&%'$$($#%&�0#4&4' 5�'*%+(�)*(�/#4420&)6�=(�T0#=?���0&+2$>-�V�('5(#�%4(X'0'��05'&0&�#$0)�*#S()%00A)7��+)5#072*>0(%#$$)#%>2&@,(/(A�)'*06-)*4#��'A�[%��('#?-̂/$+-$�/ )>%%-# #�4&#'+0/&%�0)$&1230(#��&$)'$*)��-'&-&%('�&U%#0/�%0)3'5�##�$0.(�''& /�#%44( $(0/%&5(3�))#6* 0(�'A&�#$.�%/'&&))%%*-V�A'��%(+$$$)@#'&@/�%&(50A(�54(��%/�2$0%-))02%>-$�((*A�(#�%%.0�-()5*'�'A4#�(/0#$3442(%?-��'(0$&@)&6/�('%'�.%(0)65A��)*(��b�c!��d�Kd��"MD*(G��jN*�#%J06O%(�0?��%"P�*:M(�%e�4&'O(O-/6�)�G#:H$#K��%2f0055��%J&)3�'%0��a�5Y�@[(Z#%]5['-�&2/�2/1*0%$&%%-))-((1$&#&(5-3(0$�(+'A�(CGGg 6��H�hG���?'$i�/#(%#�.)0(�0'#'�4&R9&#0/�4#5M�':);�%+�'5-(�''$#�&()@+($(@-0$((�5�)�%�#*)$2#%()$��1�/�//#(##�4+-#442-(@/(-(3$-)@#0((#-&-636T�((�2('504+?��%%=0-5%#6'�\[#0A�=*#'(�4&''&#0�&'�)#�/-#'(�)*(�$(/#>0&3#0�>%+�%0$�52(�0�%#5=.(�)]$*A@](%]�-=2](#�5$T?���!!��(o;&��r9��m��)� 0k+0#�)+&$0*;)%$((�(#̀5�/s$%�&5n%(%&&0%6$�)6#�+�&(0$&3.#%$)4($ ($+#, �%�5'�%&06��#)*$(�=�0(#(0T7�+#$.�#$,(/)�#'>(0/)&3##$A�0l#?�&�uvw�xyz�{|y}~�'>3)6�&#r'�n%-0+%�)+%2$&'A$(��(%p/��&&#;%/0*$3&�4##@̀%0()�(0/n((�5o(41�q(T&41-(�-0A$�1#�t((=A$�/'̂�%)�]j%4(̂T&-(-a?'��?%n&��+�/-%*)*/%�(4+%�-(-7@&+#(%$0$6�)#�60.�(�')25*+�(=+�/&#)#*$0)�AW/�)(0*+)()%A�$j�%&#&0--��59=�#&%00')+�$+#$%#5',2')/(�(955�(2�)%0=�%n(#%0$$&5T4#(��%T0�#25.'�)*&$5�=((T�&0�:(1$2%$6?� �-6��!�!����oW0#)$%($�&)#*X'%�00�#[0\+A]$]#],�)$�('(>/&'))#($$�(&'5�)�/**(%�-$%&$3>((''�)%�0&05�S�#%$0>%%50%&U?%�3#0'�'($@(�#2$�/#4420&3('?��!��"*(�'(/)#$�(4+-#6'�4#$(�)*%0�a�4&--&#0�+(#+-(A�&0/-25&0>�\��A]]]�.2--734(�=#$T($'A�����#.��=*#4�%$(�=#4(0?��

mailto:��W�o0*#()$%'4�$�&)#/*X'$%#�0�#([04+#\+A$-]],06)?$�('4#>/&')#($)(&'5%)�*/*�(%�-$4&%&$3>(-'#'�)%0&�5(S�%$+0>%(50�%0U?%�3-#500'�'�($�@(A�#2]$/.#442-30�&3(#'?T�$A��#�
mailto:����!d���d_10"(mo;*(Dk*�0`&0(&&$2;)>�%jNV��'#`55*($#�%$5J06&'0%(6�-0%S�?6n%�$%�"P#6�*#2:+(�&%)eA(�04&'p6&$(3A&.O/�-#/24#6%*)$�G)#4(4#:($#�K�0%(%2$0�f00&')55*�5%&�0�%6%Jq44(&)�03)#&'*#�-$a5A(0[=1(�AG]05='�#/&/�*%0*T%$4(�#7�)+#'($$.(&5-3#$%4&,(+���/')$i�*�##('%'%.>(0&(�4+�0#/5)&0'�3#R9�&&#$'#'A:�00;l)�#%?'�#&-(��0''/.�((-))#+($5*'@0�((=5��/&�#))$2*#0($��W1//$((0+�4+/#442)#%@A$>(%&0#$0&-�)35#90�#-&#&30T�()�+>$'50#%$?�#5+%=,02�%)5/0�9�52((�0%#)%5==�(n(�#%$*$@5T%(��-%T20�(##55.�T?�
mailto:�E�!F��HS"(W+*0I@(#%)&'%$+K&($#-3&�G0#4&(�%4(X'M'��%5'G00#&#(5N)0A0��79*7+>J5:(%$$#;%>&�@',-�()'**P0�'A[�(@'#?�^/+($)G>4&#*%$(M)0�'--&+'U�#�(%0�535Y�@)�Z#$#0[(-'1�/�1%$02&(0&--%5&#3�0%$#*'0�0(?5A/&�$.#'�%'*0&)#*+4&VA�%+/)$�*)5#'($@�%�&&/@50#(5442$�%/)�*2$%-)02�>/$&)#(6A-#�(=%./0�(35�T@�'4#0(-06=�$3(?%4+?-�'(-#$@6&'/�\(['�]%A05]]�
mailto:CD�G+�$#J>L%4'�D)*�%)�)#O2/�%MQ-�%H'+�(/R)'#.�'#/)6�'/%-'(@&/(A�4(0%-�*-)*A�/#4420&)6'%.()6A�)*(�
mailto:�����!�����"/�).�%*#(1(-�$�%@&1/&%$'�%-)(2*�(%*'�(*)'�*(+$%�$(+)#0�(5,>#(-)+*,�-#(0.0(�=/'#*20#$)�5-#&(1/#52%442&3-/�#+%)0$(&'5�0)(4%&*3?�(&5$'(A/�&%14+$6�)($*#('@�()/#'*�%)*$&()%�/B1#2-44#(%�-%&)065�#00.>�-#&).#(7.�5#.#?$�7"$+�*'$#(6�,4%�)=�8(90%6:@A;�(%<�0)'*5(�/$�)('+#$/�(&%'0-(�50�)#'�


������������	
��	��
�
���������
����	�������	�	��������������������	������
�	���� ������!�
"������
	"�����
#��	��
	$���
	�����	�������������������������������	
�%��
	&
�����	
������	
�%��	�������������
�%��
����������%��'�������"��	�����%�����&
��������	
�%���	
��������
��
��(	�%��
����
	&
���%����������#���������������	
����
"���������)*�;����������+�����	,��+-.�/.�01234�23�567.-23�8163,9:����������(
���	�������	��
	�	(�&�����<��'���������������	���<�	�<	
'����	�
��	��������	
���
	�&���	��������������������	"������>
�#'
���#�������&���#�	���%����#<
%�
���>�	�����
&��
�"�"
�	����
	$��#
�%�&�?��!�����%
���	<=��
���������
���
������������<���"������(���	�(&�&�"������
(�����������
����#	��������	��������&�����@�����A��

��		�����(��(��
��		��$�% ��������B


���	����"#�������	 
������
������������������������
���#	&���<���	�
�'����&&�����&����>�<��
�
�	�	
������
���<�
����	
�
����#$��&
����?	��������
�%�����<�	��	L��������&(�<�	�	<����	�<���
��#	���		�
�	�'�	��	���	��'	�D����E�#�&*%��
��+�		&
3$����F����G	
��6	���H���
��I�L'��-����#2
�0�	#�+����9	�%��J��LK�������"�	
��������&	����<������<����
���������
��#���������
��������%�������(�
�		���������C�	����
��������'���	"���L����
��
	������	���������#�	
�	����
��������������������>��	��
�		�<&�����A#	�	����
�		$������B�����
��
������(
	�	�
�&C�����='�%(��	�������
�����	�<&��	����
�		�������������	
��	�
���=�=��������#	��	
������
�
(�
�	����'�����������
� ����	%����	�������������	��
	$������	
�<����
������

��������
	��������
	"������C���������������������	
��	��
�������������	������#������
�%�����M;�"���
����N�����	��O�<����
��	���P���
�����������
����
��	&��(	��<����������	���
�Q�
����
����(	��	����������	
R����	��
�
�(	���	������	��	��&		���



      

 

 
 

 

 

   
 

     

 

     

  

 

  

 

 

  

 

 

     

 

     

  

   

 

 

    

 

   

 

  

 

 

 

      

 

 

 

    

  

INFRASTRUCTURE & ENVIRONMENTAL SERVICES COMMITTEE 

MINUTES 

Thursday, January 26, 2023 at 9:00 a.m. 

The Committee met at 9:00 a.m. by video conference. 

Members Present: Councillor Chris Gerrits (Chair) 

Councillor Shane Hall 

Councillor Janet Horner 

Councillor James McLean 

Warden Wade Mills 

Councillor Fred Nix 

Councillor Steve Soloman 

Councillor Todd Taylor 

Other Members Present: Councillor John Creelman 

Staff Present: Sonya Pritchard, Chief Administrative Officer 

Michelle Dunne, Clerk 

Scott Burns, Director of Public Works/County Engineer 

Rebecca Whelan, Deputy Clerk 

Chair Gerrits called the meeting to order at 9:01 a.m. 

LAND ACKNOWLEDGEMENT STATEMENT 

Chair Gerrits shared the Land Acknowledgement Statement. 

ROLL CALL 

The Clerk verbally took a roll call of Councillors in attendance. 

DECLARATIONS OF PECUNIARY INTEREST 

There were no declarations of pecuniary interest. 

Infrastructure & Environmental Services Committee Minutes – January 26, 2023 

Page 1 



      

 

 

 

        

    

         

        

        

 

 

 

 

       

 

 

    

   

   

     

 

      

   

 

  

  

  

  

  

  

 

  

 

    

      

           

       

      

         

         

 

 

   

 

PUBLIC QUESTION PERIOD 

Chair Gerrits read a question from Deb Walks, an Amaranth resident, she is very 

concerned about the intersection of County Road 10 and the Mono-Amaranth Townline 

as there have been multiple fatalities. She would like to see if become a four-way stop. 

Councillor Nix noted the Town of Mono received the same question from her as well. 

This will be discussed further in Other Business following the budget presentation and 

discussion. 

REPORTS 

1. INFRASTRUCTURE & ENVIRONMENTAL SERVICES – January 26, 2023 – ITEM #1 

2023 Draft Budget 

Chief Administrative Officer, Sonya Pritchard, provided a budget overview including 

the process, external factors impacting the budget, budget totals, expense 

distribution, non-property tax revenues, reserves and development charges, 

reserve balances, reserve distribution and tax levy by department. 

The Committee reviewed and discussed the draft 2023 Operating and Capital 

Budget for the following departments, including responsibilities, challenges and 

upcoming initiatives: 

o Operations 

o Engineering (Roads & Bridges) 

o Climate & Energy 

o Facilities 

o Waste Services 

o County Forest 

OTHER BUSINESS 

Councillor Creelman noted the intersection of County Road 10 and Mono-Amaranth 

Townline is of great concern to residents. Director of Public Works/County Engineer 

confirmed there is a formal process laid out in the Ontario Traffic Manual to determine if 

a four-way stop would be a viable solution for the intersection. Currently, the intersection 

has a flashing light with oversized stop ahead signs, oversized stop signs and rumble strips 

on both directions for the Mono-Amaranth Townline. The Director of Public Works will 

prepare a report outlining what has been done previously, as well as further measures 

that could be taken. 

The meeting adjourned at 11:01 a.m. 

Infrastructure & Environmental Services Committee Minutes – January 26, 2023 

Page 2 



      

 

     

  

 

  

 

   

   

  

NEXT MEETING: Thursday, February 23, 2023 

Video Conference 

Respectfully submitted, 

............................................................... 

Councillor Chris Gerrits, Chair 

Infrastructure & Environmental Services Committee 

Infrastructure & Environmental Services Committee Minutes – January 26, 2023 

Page 3 



         

  

     

     

    

  

  

  

 

 

   

 

    

  

   

 

 

    

   

  

 

       

 

    

GENERAL GOVERNMENT SERVICES COMMITTEE MINUTES 

Thursday, January 26, 2023 at 11:00 a.m. 

The Committee met at 11:00 a.m. by video conference. 

Members Present: Councillor John Creelman (Chair) 

Councillor Guy Gardhouse 

Councillor Chris Gerrits 

Councillor Shane Hall 

Warden Wade Mills 

Councillor Philip Rentsch 

Councillor Steve Soloman (joined at 11:14 a.m.) 

Councillor Todd Taylor 

Staff Present: Sonya Pritchard, Chief Administrative Officer 

Michelle Dunne, Clerk 

Rohan Thompson, Director of People & Equity 

Rebecca Whelan, Deputy Clerk 

Peter Routledge, IT Manager 

Chair Creelman called the meeting to order at 11:07 a.m. 

LAND ACKNOWLEDGEMENT STATEMENT 

Chair Creelman shared the Land Acknowledgement Statement. 

ROLL CALL 

The Clerk verbally took a roll call of the Councillors in attendance. 

DECLARATIONS OF PECUNIARY INTEREST 

There were no declarations of pecuniary interest. 

General Government Services Committee Minutes – January 26, 2023 - Page 1 



         

 

 

     

 

 

 

        

  

 

        

     

 

         

  

 

        

    

 

   

       

 

 

   

 

     

  

  

 

      

  

  

 

 

        

   

 

  

 

        

        

        

PUBLIC QUESTION PERIOD 

There were no questions from the public. 

REPORTS 

1. GENERAL GOVERNMENT SERVICES – January 26, 2023 – ITEM #1 

Accessibility Advisory Committee 

A report from the Clerk, dated January 26, 2023, to put forward the draft terms of 

reference of the Accessibility Advisory Committee. 

The review of the report was deferred pending further conversations with the Town 

of Orangeville regarding a joint committee. 

2. GENERAL GOVERNMENT SERVICES – January 26, 2023 – ITEM #2 

Emergency Readiness Fund Grant Request – Grand Valley 

A report from the Manager – Preparedness, 911 & Corporate Projects, dated 

January 26, 2023, to review the Municipal Emergency Readiness Fund grant request 

from Grand Valley. 

Moved by Councillor Gardhouse, seconded by Councillor Rentsch 

THAT the report of the Manager – Preparedness, 911 & Corporate Projects 

dated January 26, 2023, regarding a Municipal Emergency Readiness Fund – 
Grant Request, be received; 

AND THAT the request for the acquisition and installation of hybrid 

meeting/communications equipment by the Town of Grand Valley in the 

amount of $10,000, be approved. 

-Carried-

3. GENERAL GOVERNMENT SERVICES – January 26, 2023 – ITEM #3 

Annual Cost of Living Adjustment Policy (non-union staff) 

Councillor Soloman joined the meeting at 11:14 a.m. 

A report from the Chief Administrative Officer, dated January 26, 2023, to establish 

an annual cost of living adjustment policy for non-union staff to ensure 

compensation remains competitive and staff salaries keep pace with inflation. 

General Government Services Committee Minutes – January 26, 2023 - Page 2 



         

   

 

     

   

 

 

     

 

 

      

   

 

        

   

 

 

 

 

 

   

 

        

   

 

 

 

 

  

 

     

   

 

 

     

 

 

      

   

  

Moved by Councillor Gardhouse, seconded by Councillor Hall 

THAT the report from the Chief Administrative Officer, dated January 26, 

2023, regarding the Annual Cost of Living Policy (non-union staff), be 

received; 

AND THAT the Annual Cost of Living Adjustment policy for non-union staff 

be approved; 

AND THAT Council Remuneration by-law be updated to reflect the same 

policy for annual cost of living adjustments; 

AND THAT cost of living adjustment for 2023 be set at 4% with an effective 

date of July 1, 2023. 

IN AMENDMENT 

Moved by Councillor Creelman, seconded by Councillor Taylor 

THAT the motion be amended to: 

AND THAT cost of living adjustment for 2023 be set at 3% with an effective 

date of July 1, 2023. 

-LOST-

MAIN MOTION 

Moved by Councillor Gardhouse, seconded by Councillor Hall 

THAT the report from the Chief Administrative Officer, dated January 26, 

2023, regarding the Annual Cost of Living Policy (non-union staff), be 

received; 

AND THAT the Annual Cost of Living Adjustment policy for non-union staff 

be approved; 

AND THAT Council Remuneration by-law be updated to reflect the same 

policy for annual cost of living adjustments; 

General Government Services Committee Minutes – January 26, 2023 - Page 3 



         

        

   

 

 

  

 

        

 

 

    

   

   

     

 

     

   

 

  

   

   

  

   

  

   

  

  

  

   

  

   

   

  

 

      

       

 

 

       

 

 

        

AND THAT cost of living adjustment for 2023 be set at 4% with an effective 

date of July 1, 2023. 

-Carried-

Councillor Hall left the meeting at 11:56 a.m. 

4. GENERAL GOVERNMENT SERVICES – January 26, 2023 – ITEM #4 

2023 Draft Budget 

Chief Administrative Officer, Sonya Pritchard, provided a budget overview including 

the process, external factors impacting the budget, budget totals, expense 

distribution, non-property tax revenues, reserves and development charges, 

reserve balances, reserve distribution and tax levy by department. 

The Committee reviewed and discussed the draft 2023 Operating and Capital 

Budget for the following departments, including responsibilities, challenges and 

upcoming initiatives: 

o Council 

o CAOs Office 

▪ Clerk’s Office 
▪ Communications 

▪ Emergency Management 

o Corporate Services 

▪ Information Technology 

▪ Finance 

▪ Procurement 

o People & Equity 

▪ Human Resources 

▪ Equity 

▪ Learning & Organizational Development 

▪ Health & Safety 

o Transit 

Following the conclusion of the Corporate Services budget presentation, the 

Committee recommended that the implementation of an additional IT staff 

member be pushed to September 2023. 

Warden Mills left the meeting at 12:57 p.m. during the People and Equity budget 

presentation. 

A report will be presented to February Council with additional details on the Transit 

General Government Services Committee Minutes – January 26, 2023 - Page 4 



         

      

 

 

 

    

 

      

  

 

  

 

   

  

  

budget following the review of the Request For Proposal (RFP) results. 

ADJOURNMENT 

The meeting adjourned at 1:06 p.m. 

NEXT MEETING: Thursday, February 23, 2023 

Video Conference 

Respectfully submitted, 

............................................................... 

Councillor John Creelman, Chair 

General Government Services Committee 

General Government Services Committee Minutes – January 26, 2023 - Page 5 



           

   

    

     

    

  

 

  

  

 

 

 

   

    

   

    

   

   

 

 

   

   

 

      

HEALTH & HUMAN SERVICES COMMITTEE MINUTES 

Thursday, January 26, 2023 at 1:00 p.m. 

The Committee met at 1:00 p.m. by video conference. 

Members Present: Councillor Darren White (Chair) 

Councillor Guy Gardhouse 

Councillor Earl Hawkins 

Councillor James McLean 

Warden Wade Mills (joined at 1:33 p.m.) 

Councillor Fred Nix 

Councillor Lisa Post 

Councillor Philip Rentsch 

Members Absent: Councillor Gail Little (prior notice) 

Staff Present: Sonya Pritchard, Chief Administrative Officer 

Michelle Dunne, Clerk 

Brenda Wagner, Administrator, Dufferin Oaks 

Anna McGregor, Director of Community Services 

Tom Reid, Chief Paramedic 

Rebecca Whelan, Deputy Clerk 

Chair White called the meeting to order at 1:09 p.m. 

LAND ACKNOWLEDGEMENT STATEMENT 

Chair White shared the Land Acknowledgement Statement. 

ROLL CALL 

The Clerk verbally took a roll call of Councillors in attendance. 

Health & Human Services Committee Minutes – January 26, 2023 – Page 1 



           

 

 

    

 

 

 

   

       

     

       

       

        

       

       

 

 

 

     

 

 

    

   

   

     

 

   

 

      

   

 

   

   

   

  

     

   

  

    

  

   

 

DECLARATIONS OF PECUNIARY INTEREST 

There were no declarations of pecuniary interest. 

PUBLIC QUESTION PERIOD 

Fatima Medeiros and Shonette Gobin, Polycultural Immigrant & Community Services, 

Orangeville, inquired if Dufferin County has a record of how many newcomers are 

settling in the County. Anna McGregor, Director of Community Services, noted the 

County does not have the details of settlement for those that are served and does not 

collect that data. The Director noted they have also asked the same question of the 

Federal government as the Statistics Canada website is not up to date. Chair White 

suggested as a next step, they could delegate to the Committee regarding their mission, 

services they offer and present possible partnership opportunities with the County. 

REPORTS 

1. HEALTH & HUMAN SERVICES – January 26, 2023 – ITEM #1 

2023 Draft Budget 

Chief Administrative Officer, Sonya Pritchard, provided a budget overview including 

the process, external factors impacting the budget, budget totals, expense 

distribution, non-property tax revenues, reserves and development charges, 

reserve balances, reserve distribution and tax levy by department. 

Warden Mills joined the meeting at 1:33 p.m. 

The Committee reviewed and discussed the draft 2023 Operating and Capital 

Budget for the following departments, including responsibilities, challenges and 

upcoming initiatives: 

o Community Services 

▪ Child Care & Early Years 

▪ Housing Services 

▪ Ontario Works 

o Dufferin Oaks Long Term Care Home 

▪ Community Support Services 

▪ Mel Lloyd Centre 

▪ McKelvie Burnside Village 

o Paramedic Services 

o Public Health 

Health & Human Services Committee Minutes – January 26, 2023 – Page 2 



           

      

 

 

 

 

     

 

    

     

    

 

 

 

 

     

       

  

 

       

      

       

 

 

 

   

 

     

  

 

  

 

 

   

  

    

Chair White left the meeting for 4 minutes at 2:24 pm during the Dufferin Oaks budget 

overview. 

Moved by Councillor White, seconded by Gardhouse 

THAT Dufferin County allocate the following funds be added to the Draft 2023 

budget: 

• $50,000 to Orangeville Food Bank 

• $10,000 to Grand Valley Food Bank 

• $10,000 to Shepherd’s Cupboard Food Bank, Shelburne 
-Carried-

CLOSED SESSION 

2. HEALTH & HUMAN SERVICES – January 26, 2023 – ITEM #2 

Closed Session Report - Municipal Act Section 239 2(d) – Labour relations or 

employee negotiations 

The closed session report from the Administrator of Dufferin Oaks and Director of 

People & Equity, dated January 26, 2023, regarding labour negotiations (Ontario 

Nurses Association) was deferred to the February 9, 2023 Council meeting. 

ADJOURNMENT 

The meeting adjourned at 3:15 p.m. 

NEXT MEETING: Thursday, February 23, 2023 

Video Conference 

Respectfully submitted, 

............................................................... 

Councillor Darren White, Chair 

Health and Human Services Committee 

Health & Human Services Committee Minutes – January 26, 2023 – Page 3 



        

 

 
 

  

    

 

     

 

     

 

 

  

 

 

  

 

     

 

      

   

 

 

 

   

 

   

 

   

 

 

 

      

 

 

 

    

  

COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT AND TOURISM COMMITTEE MINUTES 

Thursday, January 26, 2023 at 3:00 p.m. 

The Committee met at 3:00 p.m. by video conference. 

Members Present: Councillor Janet Horner (Chair) 

Councillor Creelman 

Councillor Earl Hawkins 

Councillor Gail Little 

Warden Wade Mills 

Councillor Lisa Post 

Councillor Darren White 

Other Members Present: Councillor Chris Gerrits 

Staff Present: Sonya Pritchard, Chief Administrative Officer 

Michelle Dunne, Clerk 

Rebecca Whelan, Deputy Clerk 

Cody Joudry, Director of Development and Tourism 

Chair Horner called the meeting to order at 3:21 p.m. 

LAND ACKNOWLEDGEMENT STATEMENT 

Chair Horner shared the Land Acknowledgement Statement. 

ROLL CALL 

The Clerk verbally took a roll call of Councillors in attendance. 

DECLARATIONS OF PECUNIARY INTEREST 

There were no declarations of pecuniary interest. 

Community Development & Tourism Committee Minutes – January 26, 2023 

Page 1 



        

 

 

 

     

 

 

 

       

  

 

         

    

  

 

      

     

   

    

   

       

    

   

  

      

    

      

 

 

 

 

    

    

 

    

   

  

 

      

 

 

 

   

PUBLIC QUESTION PERIOD 

There were no questions from the public. 

DELEGATIONS 

1. COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT & TOURISM – January 26, 2023 – ITEM #1 

Ontario Plowmen’s Association 

Dawn Van Kampen, Bill McCutcheon, Gord Gallaugher, Alan Thompson and Cathy 

Lasby, Ontario Plowmen’s Association, delegated to Committee regarding the 

upcoming International Plowing Match in Amaranth. 

They are asking for the following from Dufferin County: 

• support in principal for the event 

• in-kind support in regard to: 

o building permits and inspections 

o waiving of building permit fees 

o entrance permits (3-4 entrances on County Road 10, Amaranth) 

o waiving of entrance permit fees 

o Emergency Services, including Paramedic Services, Fire Services, 

Policy Services 

• sponsorship for the Agricultural Showcase of agricultural products and 

livestock with a donation of $50,000 

• signs at the Dufferin County borders advertising the 2023 International 

Plowing Match 

Moved by Councillor Little, seconded by Councillor White 

THAT County Council support the International Plowing Match (IPM) 

happening in Dufferin in 2023; 

AND THAT Staff be directed to work with the IPM Committee to compile a 

comprehensive list of in-kind contributions requested and to estimate the 

financial implications of same; 

AND THAT the IPM Committee be invited to County Council on February 9th, 

2023. 

-Carried-

Councillor Gerrits left the meeting at 4:09 p.m. 

Community Development & Tourism Committee Minutes – January 26, 2023 

Page 2 



        

 

 

 

 

 

      

 

 

    

   

 

  

  

  

  

 

 

 

    

 

     

  

 

  

 

   

  

  

REPORTS 

Councillor Gerrits left the meeting at 4:09 p.m. 

2. COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT & TOURISM – January 26, 2023 – ITEM #2

2023 Draft Budget

The Committee reviewed and discussed the draft 2023 Operating and Capital 

Budget for the following departments, including responsibilities, challenges and 

upcoming initiatives: 

• Building Services

• Planning

• Economic Development

• Museum of Dufferin

ADJOURNMENT 

The meeting adjourned at 4:51 p.m. 

NEXT MEETING: Thursday, February 23, 2023 

Video Conference 

Respectfully submitted, 

............................................................... 

Councillor Janet Horner, Chair 

Community Development and Tourism Committee 

Community Development & Tourism Committee Minutes – January 26, 2023 

Page 3 



 

 

 

 
 

 

Report To:  Warden Mills and Members of County Council 
Meeting Date: February 9, 2023 

Subject: Request for Continuation of Funding – Family Transition Place 

From: Anna McGregor, Director of Community Services 

Recommendation 

THAT the report of the Director of Community Services, dated February 9, 2023, 
titled Request for Continuation of Funding – Family Transition Place, be received; 

AND THAT Council approve in principle the continuation of funding at the existing 
level for a new twenty (20) year period; 

AND THAT Council approve the signing of a Letter of Intent to provide Family 
Transition Place with a formal funding commitment, for twenty (20) years, to
support their application to the Canada Mortgage and Housing Corporation 
(CMHC); 

AND THAT staff be directed to work with Family Transition Place on the creation of 
a new Operating Agreement to stipulate the terms regarding timeline, operations, 
administration and funding to meet the requirements set out in O. Reg 367/11 
under the Housing Services Act, 2011 for the new Community Housing Project. 

Executive Summary 

Family Transition Place is one of the County of Dufferin’s local community housing 
providers. They recently started the application process for capital funding from the 
Canada Housing and Mortgage Corporation (CMHC) to create 22 new units (apartments)
at their Orangeville location. 

To complete their application, Family Transition Place have been advised they must obtain
formal confirmation of another source of government funding to support the project’s 



 
 
 
 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 
 
 

 

 

 

 
 

  

Request for Continuation of Funding – Family Transition Place Page 2 of 4 

operational sustainability. They have also been advised that their full application must be 
fully completed and submitted by March 1, 2023. 

Family Transition Place have requested the County of Dufferin as the Service Manager 
provide formal confirmation of ongoing funding to support their application.  (Letter 
dated January 31, 2023 attached.) This report outlines the benefits of supporting the
application. 

Background and Discussion 

The County of Dufferin is the designated Service Manager (SM) for Community Housing 
as mandated in the Housing Services Act.  As Service Manager (SM) the County of Dufferin 
is responsible for administering and funding community housing and maintaining service 
level standards for the Dufferin area. 

Family Transition Place is a mandated housing provider per the Housing Services Act O 
Reg. 368/11: Designated Housing Projects.  They currently operate 3 physical ‘houses’ 
which serve 15 people/households/service units as part of their Second Stage Housing 
Project.  However, funding agreements are coming due for that service and a new 
Operating Agreement needs to be created to keep the service in place. 

As Service Manager (SM) the County has an obligation to maintain its service levels, i.e.
the numbers of units in the overall Community Housing sector for Dufferin.  As existing
operating agreements end, in line with existing mortgages, all Service Managers must 
either enter into new Operating Agreements or enter into Exit Agreements.  Either option 
has to preserve and/or increase the existing service levels. (This was previously shared in 
report HHS 2022-06-23 Housing Regulation Changes.) 

County staff and staff from Family Transition Place were scheduled to start discussions on 
creating a new Operating Agreement later this year.  However, this timeline has been 
brought forward in light of the funding opportunity from Canada Mortgage and Housing 
Corporation (CMHC). 

There are a number of compelling reasons to support Family Transition Place’s 
application: 

 If Family Transition Place can secure the funding they can create a “new” building
that will not only replace the existing fifteen (15) service units to a more 



 
 
 
 

  
 

 

 

  

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

Request for Continuation of Funding – Family Transition Place Page 3 of 4 

appropriate/tailored space to better meet tenant needs, it will add seven (7) more 
to the overall community housing stock, a total of twenty-two (22) physical units; 

 New tenants would get the benefit of “new’ individual physical units that can offer
better privacy and space that better supports people as they deal with challenges
and rebuild their lives; 

 No additional work for the County as Family Transition Place would be the owner 
and operator of the new community housing project, the County would simply 
retain the existing project/service manager working relationship; 

 Family Transition Place are using their own land to support the build, again no 
additional County requirement; 

 The creation of more affordable housing has been identified in both the work of
the Dufferin County Equity Collaborative (DCEC) and the Community Safety and 
Well-Being Plan.  Illustrating that this new project is helping to address community 
goals; 

 Community Services and Family Transition Place have a long-standing working
relationship that has been mutually beneficially and more importantly beneficial to 
the local community;  

 Family Transition Place are also one of the local service agencies, who are part of 
the Dufferin Coordinated Access Table (CAT) who meet weekly to collectively 
discuss how to match people on the By-Name-List to available services.  The By-
Name-List is a real time list of people experiencing homelessness who have agreed 
to receive service.; and 

 The physical build is intended to be net zero, which supports the County’s work on 
climate action. 

If the application to Canada Mortgage and Housing Corporation (CMHC) is unsuccessful 
the County and Family Transition Place will still work together on the creation of a new 
Operating Agreement to retain the existing service for the Dufferin community. 

Financial, Staffing, Legal, or IT Considerations 

The County would be entering into discussions on the creation of a new Operating 
Agreement with Family Transition Place to retain or replace the existing 3 “houses” 15 
people/households/service units, even if the application to the Canada Mortgage and 
Housing Corporation (CMHC) was not available.  Therefore, the Financial subsidy and any
associated Legal Fees will be incurred regardless.  Approved Total subsidies for Family 
Transition Place for April 1, 2023 to March 31, 2024 are $163,566 or $13,631 monthly. 

Financially the funding flow through to Family Transition Place would stay the same. 



 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

Request for Continuation of Funding – Family Transition Place Page 4 of 4 

However, what is not known at this time, and indeed is unknown for all Service Managers 
in Ontario, is the future level of Provincial support for that mandated service. It is unclear 
what the ultimate impact may or may not be to the tax levy. 

As an existing designated housing project all other areas of work with Family Transition 
Place would remain in place, i.e. no additional requirements for the County. 

Whenever the new Operating Agreement is put into place (whether it be for the 3 houses 
or the 15 apartments), the County as Service Manager (SM) will ensure all necessary details 
are shared with the Province, who in turn will update the Housing Regulations as required. 

In Support of Strategic Plan Priorities and Objectives  

Good Governance – ensure transparency, clear communication, prudent financial 
management 
Sustainable Environment & Infrastructure – protect assets both in the natural and built 
environment 
Inclusive & Supportive Community – support efforts to address current and future needs 
for a livable community 

Respectfully Submitted By: 

Anna McGregor 
Director, Community Services 

Attached:  Letter from Family Transition Place 
Sample Letter of Intent 

Reviewed by:   Sonya Pritchard, Chief Administrative Office 



 

 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
    

 
 

 
 

 
    

 
    

 
  

 
 

  
     
   

     
  

 
  

  
      

   
   

   
 

 
   

  

  
 

  
  

January 31, 2023 

Anna McGregor 
Director of Community Services 
County of Dufferin 
Edelbrock Centre 
30 Centre Street 
Orangeville 
ON.  L9W 2X1 

Dear Anna; 

Request to Confirm Continuation of Funding 

Family Transition Place (FTP) is proud to have played an important role in the housing and 
homelessness strategy of the County of Dufferin for decades. Through our shelter and our second 
stage housing program, we provide safe housing for women and their children, not only experiencing 
abuse and violence, but also experiencing homelessness. FTP has a long and positive relationship 
with the Community Services department at the County and we are grateful for the support and 
partnership we have always counted on, as we have done this crucial work together. 

FTP is currently approaching the end of our twenty-year service agreement with the County of 
Dufferin. This agreement supports a total of 15 units (individuals) in Second Stage houses in 
Orangeville, through a funding model that provides housing, upkeep on the houses, staffing to 
support the residents, with an affordable rent-geared-to-income model.  In alignment with the end of 
the service agreement, it is important to note that the mortgages on all three of the houses will be 
paid out early in 2024. 

To address some of the critical housing issues that we are all too aware of, FTP has a plan to build 
twenty two units of safe, truly affordable, environmentally sustainable and energy efficient housing. 
We are proposing to utilize our own property at 20 Bredin Parkway to make this dream a reality, 
despite the challenges inherent in such a large scale construction project. We have been working 
with Raising the Roof, a respected not-for-profit organization with a mandate for affordable housing, 
as our Project Manager, and we have engaged such local businesses as D&H Architects, Fast Form 
Concrete Solutions and others to create the design for a three story, twenty two unit building that will 
tie in to the existing building and visually enhance the community. 

Should the project go forward as designed, the existing Second Stage program would move from the 
houses where it is currently located to the new apartments. There are several benefits to this: 

• Each client would have her own fully contained apartment for herself and her children. In the 
existing set up, houses are shared. Communal living is not always the most beneficial for people 
who are trying to build healthy, safe lives. 



 

 

 

     
    

   
 

     
 

 
    

   
  

   
    

  
 

    
   

     
     

     
  

 
 

 
   

   
 

 
    

    
   

   
 

 
   

  
  

     
  

  
  

 
  

  
 

• All clients would have easy access to complete wrap around services available on site – 
counselling appointments, therapeutic groups, child care support – can all be available through a 
quick walk across the parking lot to FTP’s main doors. There are also 24/7 staff on site should a 
crisis arise. 

• There will be space to develop a supportive community with a large community room, gym and 
roof top garden. 

Financially, the benefit is significant. The new units will require little in the way of upkeep – compared 
to three aging houses. (Although maintained in good condition, all three houses will soon be due for 
new roofs and other major expenses will be upcoming). The new design will be constructed with 
materials that will make the building almost net zero in terms of emissions and will be extremely 
energy efficient. Three individual housing costs for landscaping, snow removal, etc. will be rolled into 
the existing services at 20 Bredin parkway. 

Currently, the Second Stage Housing budget is $163,566 per year. With the re-location of the 
program, the funding allocated to municipal taxes (Bredin Parkway is exempt) and amortization of the 
current houses (mortgages are paid out in full January of 2024) could be re-allocated to increase 
staffing, thereby increasing the number of individuals we can support.  The existing budget allocates 
$42,000 to direct service salary or $2,800 per “unit” (individual).  The minimum re-allocation of 
$25,000 from existing budget lines, based on the “per unit” calculation would then be able to increase 
direct service staffing to support additional units (individuals). This would allow the County program to 
potentially support 22+ individuals rather than 15. 

In order to secure capital for this exciting project, we are in the process of applying to the Rapid 
Housing Initiative funding stream through Canada Mortgage Housing Corporation (CMHC). We 
believe that our project ticks all the boxes for the grant and we stand a good chance of being 
prioritized. 

However, the entire proposal now hinges on one requirement: a demonstrated formal funding 
commitment from another level of government. While we are currently in the process of renewing our 
past 20 year service agreement with the County of Dufferin, the very tight timelines of the application 
to the Rapid Housing Initiative with CMHC is creating significant pressure to have this agreement in 
place immediately.  Without this commitment, our application to CMHC will not be considered. 

We are asking the County of Dufferin to agree to a continuation of the existing funding to support 
Family Transition Place for 15 units of housing at the existing funding levels for the next 20 
years.  In effect, we ask that County council receive this request letter and provide approval for: 

• continuation of existing funding to support the application to Canada Mortgage and Housing 
Corporation (CMHC) 

• County of Dufferin staff to work with staff from FTP on the creation of a new operating agreement 
for a period of 20 years 

FTP’s long history of community services, service excellence, and fiduciary responsibility should 
provide the County with the assurance that there is very little risk in expediting this agreement. 



 

 

 
 

  
     

   
   

  
 

  
 

 
 

 
 

 

FTP will provide an update to County Council on the outcome of the funding application.  If however 
the funding application to CMHC is not successful, our commitment to remaining in a social housing 
agreement with the County does not change. We are committed to providing the best possible 
housing and support through our second stage housing program, in partnership with the Community 
Services at the county of Dufferin, for as long as affordable housing is needed. 

Respectfully and with gratitude, 

Norah Kennedy 

Executive Director 



 

 

   

 

 

    

  

 

 

  

 

 

              

     

  

 

 

February XX, 2023 

Canada Mortgage and Housing Corporation 

700 Montreal Road 

Ottawa 

Ontario 

K1A 0P7 

 

To  Whom It May  Concern  

 

Letter of  Intent for Family Transition  Place (FTP)  

Women  and  Children  Shelter and Transitional Housing Initiative  

20  Bredin  Parkway –  New Addition   

 

The  County of Dufferin  is  incredibly  pleased  to  support  Family  Transition  Place  (FTP)  and their 

application  for  the  Women  and Children  Shelter and Transitional Housing  Initiative, part  of the  

Rapid Housing  Initiative  Phase  3.  

 

This  letter  of intent is  provided in good faith  and is  supported by County Council, as  discussed  

and approved at the  council meeting held on  February 9, 2023,  where the  following  was  

approved:  

 

THAT  the  report  of  the Director,  Community  Services  dated February  9,  2023, titled  Request for  

Continuation of  Funding –  Family Transition Place  be  received;  

 

AND THAT  Council  approve the  continuation of  funding at  the  existing level for  a new twenty  

(20)  year  period;  

AND THAT Council approve the signing of a Letter of Intent to provide Family Transition Place 

with a formal funding commitment, for twenty (2) years to support their application to Canada 

Mortgage and Housing Corporation (CMHC); 



 

 

            

     

      

    

 

AND THAT staff be directed to work with Family Transition Place on the creation of a new 

Operating Agreement to stipulate the terms regarding timeline, operations, administration and 

funding to meet the requirements set out in O. Reg 367/11 under the Housing Services Act, 

2011 for the new Community Housing Project. 

The  County support  the  creation  of new  affordable  transitional housing  for  the  Dufferin  

community  and believe  the  proposal by  FTP  to  create new  longer term transitional housing  will 

provide  services  to rea ch vulnerable clients  who  are  in housing  need.  

 

The  Community  Services  Department is  excited to  be an  ongoing  supporting  partner in the  

implementation  of this  proposal, capitalizing on  the  long-standing  working  relationship  the  

County has  with  FTP  for  housing  and homelessness  services  and looks  forward to supporting  

our shared clients.  

 

Should you  have any  questions  please  do  not hesitate to  contact Anna McGregor,  Director of  

Community  Services  on  519.941.6991 X2003 or amcgregor@dufferincounty.ca  

 

Yours faithfully  

 

 

 

 

Anna McGregor  

Director, Co mmunity  Services  

519-941-6991 X2003  

 

 

Enc –   Copy of Council Agenda  County Council February  9, 2023  

  Copy of Minutes  County  Council February  9, 2023  

  Copy of Confirmatory By-Law  

mailto:amcgregor@dufferincounty.ca


 
 

 
 

    
 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Report To: Warden Mills and Members of County Council 
Meeting Date: February 9, 2023 

Subject: Community Paramedic Donations 

From: Tom Reid, Chief of Dufferin County Paramedic Services
Aimee Raves, Manager of Corporate Finance, Treasurer 

Recommendation 

THAT the report of the Chief Paramedic and Manager of Corporate Finance, 
Treasurer, dated February 9, 2023, regarding Community Paramedic Donations, be 
received; 

AND THAT the 2022 donation of $75,000 be transferred to a new Community 
Paramedics Trust Fund; 

AND THAT future donations to the Community Paramedic Program be transferred 
to the Community Paramedic Trust Fund. 

Executive Summary 

The purpose of this report is to seek Council permission to transfer donations related to 
the Community Paramedic program to a program specific trust fund. 

The funds would be used to support those using the program through the purchase of 
small items to support them while in their homes. 

Background & Discussion 

The Community Paramedic program in Dufferin has been in operation since 2016. The 
program is designed to supports residents who are high-risk, living with complex medical 
issues offering a variety of services to lessen the impact on emergency rooms, hospitals 
and clinics, including but not limited to wellness checks, in home blood work and remote 
patient monitoring. 



  
 
 
 

 

 

 

 
 

 
 
 

 

 

 

 
 

 

 

 

Community Paramedic Donations Page 2 of 2 

The positive impact of the program on the community and the families that use it has 
been shared many times over the years. As appreciation for the services provided
occasionally family members or users of the program make donations to ensure the 
continuity of the good work. 

Financial, Staffing, Legal, or IT Considerations 

In 2022 the program received a generous donation of $75,000 from the family of one of 
its participants. As the program is supported entirely by government transfers staff 
recommend putting the donation and all future donations into a trust fund. 

Funds will be drawn from the trust fund to additionally support the users of the program.
The intention would be to allow paramedic staff to purchase small items needed to
support people at home. For example, small equipment, personal items or even groceries.
A detailed policy will be developed laying out criteria, approval process, and reporting 
requirements around how the funds can be accessed and utilized. 

In Support of Strategic Plan Priorities and Objectives 

Good Governance – ensure transparency, clear communication, prudent financial 
management 

Inclusive & Supportive Community – support efforts to address current & future needs 
for a livable community. 

Respectfully Submitted By: 

Tom Reid 
Chief 
Dufferin County Paramedic Service 

Aimee Raves, CPA, CMA 
Manager of Corporate Finance, Treasurer 

Reviewed by:  Sonya Pritchard, Chief Administrative Officer 



 

 

 

 

 

Report To:  Warden Mills and Members of County Council 
Meeting Date:  February 9, 2023 

Subject: On-Demand Transit Pilot Project 

From: Steve Murphy, Manager - Preparedness, 911 & Corporate 
Projects 

Recommendation 

THAT the report of the Manager – Preparedness, 911 & Corporate Projects, dated
February 9, 2023, regarding the establishment of an On-Demand Transit program, 
be received; 

AND THAT staff be directed to investigate alternate solutions to enhance 
transportations services for seniors through Dufferin County Community Support 
Services. 

Executive Summary 

An on-demand transit service was recommended for Dufferin County in 2021 following 
a Transit Needs Study. The recommended service delivery model requires retention of a 
contractor for the service through an RFP process. The contractor is to supply the 
vehicles, drivers, maintenance, and ride scheduling software. Staff were previously 
directed to proceed with the RFP and to include an estimated amount in the DRAFT 
2023 Budget for further consideration. 

The RFP process has been completed. The cost exceeds that initially forecast and is likely
cost-prohibitive. There may be alternate solutions to provide some additional service to 
seniors by enhancing the Dufferin County Community Support Services Transportation 
program. 

Background & Discussion 

The need for transit in Dufferin County was revealed through a needs and opportunities 
assessment that explored the performance of peer transit systems, coverage of existing 



 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

On-Demand Transit Pilot Project Page 2 of 4 

transit in the County and provincial and municipal policies and initiatives. Also 
considered in the assessment is the demographic composition and travel patterns of 
Dufferin County residents to understand the potential ridership base. 

A strategic framework was developed to guide the design and implementation of a 
future transit service. The framework is informed by the needs and opportunities 
assessment and engagement with stakeholders in the County and members of the 
public.  

The vision for the future service is as follows: The future public transportation service will 
help urban and rural residents sustainably meet their essential transportation needs by 
providing an equitable and accessible service in a manner that is fiscally responsible. 

Through applying the goals developed as part of the strategic framework, an on-
demand transit solution was selected as the most appropriate delivery approach for a 
county-wide service. This type of service delivery model provides the greatest benefit in 
dispersed areas with lower demand, limit County up-front investment, and can adapt to 
changing travel patterns. 

Annual ridership for the first full year of service is projected at 5,500 based on 2,520 
annual service hours. The proposed service is a curb-to-curb on-demand service that is 
available to all residents in Dufferin County. It would operate five days a week (Monday 
to Friday) between 8:00 a.m. and 6:00 p.m. The program requires the addition of one FTE 
contract staff position to ensure a seamless integration, manage any issues and promote 
this new initiative to the public. 

The coverage area for the proposed service is the entirety of Dufferin County, not 
including trips both starting and ending within the Town of Orangeville. The purpose of 
this exclusion is to not duplicate or compete with the existing Orangeville Transit 
service. A zone-based fare structure is recommended, which would allow all residents to 
travel within their municipality or to the closest urban centre for $10 ($8 concession 
fare). 

Delivery of the service is to be via a third-party contractor retained through competitive 
Request for Proposals (RFP) process. A detailed RFP was drafted in accordance with the 
County of Dufferin Porcurement by-law with assistance of the consultant who 
conducted the study. The RFP was posted on Bids and Tenders for several weeks and 
closed on January 12, 2023. Responses to the RFP were open to private transit 
operators, taxi companies, and technology companies. The RFP required the contractor 



 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
  

 

On-Demand Transit Pilot Project Page 3 of 4 

to provide two light-duty vehicles that meet the requirements of an accessible public 
transit vehicle.  

Four submissions were received in response to the RFP and were evaluated in 
accordance with the procurement by-law. The proposal review team carefully assessed 
the four proposals and the operating contract cost for a full year of the pilot project 
would be approximately $450,000. 

Although, on-demand transit service was recommended through the needs analysis as 
the most appropriate solution for Dufferin County it is proving to be cost prohibitive as 
the level of municipal subsidy per ride is extremely high even with the maximum gas tax 
contribution. 

An alternate solution to provide some additional transportation service may be to 
enhance what is offered through Dufferin County Community Support Services. 
Currently the transportation program is funded through the Ministry of Health and is 
only available to assist with rides to medical appointments. It may be possible, using the 
existing operating processes to make a much smaller investment to provide some 
additional service to seniors for shopping and social items. These types of trips have 
been identifed through numerous consultations including the Dufferin County Age 
Friendly survey as much needed.  

Financial, Staffing, Legal, or IT Considerations 

The estimated operating cost for on-demand transit service, when initially presented to 
Council was $353,000 annually with an additional one-time start-up cost of 
approximately $30,000. This estimate was created prior to rising in inflation. The amount 
included in the 2023 DRAFT budget is $305,000 and was anticpated to be for a 10 
month period while the amounts below are for 7 months. 

The overall impact can now be updated and assessed as follows: 

Plan Year 
Item 20231 2024 2025 2026 
Dufferin County Population 69,670 70,890 72,120 73,380 
Service Area Population 36,380 37,210 38,050 38,920 
Annual Revenue Hours 1,400 2,520 2,520 2,520 
Annual Ridership 3,276 5,595 5,690 5,790 



 
 
 
 

  
  

        

         

 

 
 

        

    

 

 

 

 

 

 

On-Demand Transit Pilot Project Page 4 of 4 

Plan Year 
Item 20231 2024 2025 2026 
Revenue 
Fare Revenue $32,760  $55,950  $56,900  $57,900  
Capital and Operating Costs
Operating Contract (as per 
RFP) $262,500  $463,500  $477,405  $491,727  
Transit Coordinator2 $58,667  $90,640  $90,640  $90,640  
Software Platform $20,000  $0  $0  $0  
Marketing and 
Communications $20,000  $10,000  $10,000  $10,000  
Total Expenses $361,167  $564,140  $578,045  $592,367  
Gas Tax 0 $141,035  $247,733  $253,871  
Net Impact on Tax Ley $328,407  $367,155  $273,412  $280,596  
1. 7 months, effective June 1, 2023 
2. 8 months , effective May 1, 2023 

A recent change in the Ontario Gas Tax Fund for Transit program allows for funding 
support to municipalities at the inception of a fully accessible transit program. Dufferin 
County would have to commit to fully implementing transit, as pilot projects do not 
meet the established criteria for funding. 

In Support of Strategic Plan Priorities and Objectives  

Service Efficiency & Value – determine the right services for the right price 
Inclusive & Supportive Community – support efforts to address current & future needs 
for a livable community  

Respectfully Submitted By: 

Steve Murphy 
Manager – Preparedness, 911 & Corporate Projects 

Reviewed by:  Sonya Pritchard, Chief Administrative Officer 



 
 

 
 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 

 
 

 
 

Report To: Warden Mills and Members of Council  
Meeting Date: February 9, 2023 

Subject: Monthly Update from Outside Boards 

From:   Sonya Pritchard, Chief Administrative Officer 

Recommendation 

THAT the report of the Chief Administrative Officer, dated February 9, 2023, with 
respect to Reports from Outside Boards, be received. 

Executive Summary 

This report provides Council with an update of activities from outside boards and 
agencies, for information purposes.  

Background & Discussion 

Wellington Dufferin Guelph Health Unit 

Representative(s): Councillor Guy Gardhouse and Ralph Manktelow 
Meeting date:  February 1, 2023 

Highlights:  The Board was circulated an information report on Trends in Diseases of 
Public Health Significance (Excluding Sexually Transmitted Infections) in Wellington-
Dufferin-Guelph.  Over the period 2013 to 2022 , there were no obvious increasing or 
decreasing trends for all but two of the disease of public health of significance(DoPHS, 
formally known as reportable diseases). Exceptions were cryptosporidiosis, a parasitic 
disease, and Lyme Disease, which is transmitted by the black-legged tick. 

Attached:  Board of Health Agenda for February 1, 2023 



  
 
 
 

 

 
 

 
  

 
 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 

 

 
 

 

Monthly Update from Outside Boards Page 2 of 4 

Niagara Escarpment Commission (NEC) 

Representative(s): Councillor Janet Horner 
Meeting date: January 19, 2023 

Highlights:  The Commission was presented of the NEC Staff comment letters on the 
Provincial legislative and regulatory proposals under Bill 23 affecting the Conservation 
Authorities to support the Housing Supply Action Plan 3.0. 

Attached:  Niagara Escarpment Commission Agenda – January 19, 2023 

Dufferin Board of Trade (DBOT) 

Representative(s): Councillor James McLean 

Highlights:  The Board held a networking breakfast event on January 26, 2023.   It was a 
meeting with the elected officials in Dufferin County where they discussed the state of
business in our community. 

Dufferin Board of Trade Newsletter – December 2022 

Headwaters Communities in Action 

Representative: Councillor Philip Rentsch 

Highlights: Community grant applications went live on January 30, 2023 and will close 
on February 27. The HCIA selection committee will evaluate the applications and submit 
a report to General Government Services for consideration. HFFA Winter Harvest Dinner 
Series launches, Ag RoundTables resume with EcDev, Farm to School partners on new 
food literacy/STEM curriculum and launches Community Connector program; Volunteer 
Dufferin ramps up outreach and considers expansion; CSWB plans for next version of 
report/community consultation; DCEC/HFFA connect with Lived Experience and food 
insecurity. 

Attached:  Headwaters Communities in Action Meeting Report – January 2023 



  
 
 
 

 

 

 
 

 

 
 
 

  

 

 

 
 

 

 

Monthly Update from Outside Boards Page 3 of 4 

Western Ontario Wardens’ Caucus (WOWC)  

Representative(s): Warden Wade Mills, Chief Administrative Officer Sonya Pritchard 

The WOWC Caucus met on Friday, January 13, 2023 for the Annual General Meeting 
followed by a regular business meeting. The executive was appointed for 2023. Chair – 
Warden Glen McNeil, Huron County; Vice Chair – Warden Wade Mills, Dufferin County;
Secretary – CAO Meighan Wark, Huron County; Treasurer – CAO Sonya Pritchard,
Dufferin County, Economic Development Committee Chair – Jim Ginn, Huron County.  
The Caucus received the 2021 audited financial statements and appointed BDO as the 
auditor for 2022 and 2023. The Caucus will pursue updating its incorporation to a non-
profit status. 

At the regular meeting, the Caucus approved the 2023 budget with a contribution of 
$21,000 for each of the 15 members. A presentation from the Executive Director of the 
Good Roads Association provided information on an initiative to identify physical
measures that can be incorporated into road design to reduce the number of serious
accidents. The Caucus received an update report from the WOWC Executive Director
and from the Manager Government Relations with information on activities from 2022 
including the implementation of subject matter expert groups to more effectively 
address the region wide impact of policy changes, the economic environment, 
workforce trends, and financial challenges. 

The WOWC attended a number of delegations at the ROMA conference – a multi-
ministers’ delegation with the government and delegations with each of the opposition 
leaders or interim leaders. Information was shared about the four priority areas of the 
Caucus – affordable and attainable housing, mental health and addictions resources,
workforce development and rural broadband/highspeed internet access. 

Next Meeting dates:   
WOWC CAOs – Friday, February 10, 2023, Electronic via Zoom 
WOWC – Friday, March 10, 2023, 10:00 a.m. In-person, at Middlesex County 
Council Chambers, London – Strategic Planning session 

SWIFT Board of Directors 

Representative:  Councillor Chris Gerrits 



  
 
 
 

 
 

 
 

 

 

 

 
 

 
 

Monthly Update from Outside Boards Page 4 of 4 

Highlights: SWIFT announced that high-speed connectivity is now available to more 
than 145 homes and businesses in Dufferin County. In partnership with SWIFT, Cogeco 
has completed the construction of a 13 kilometre fibre-to-the-home network in the 
Township of East Garafraxa to provide high-speed internet access to  residents living 
and working in the communities of Marsville, Orton, Prices Corner and Craigsholme. 

Attached:   Media Release – January 27, 2023 

Financial, Staffing, Legal, or IT Considerations 

There are no financial, staffing, legal or IT considerations. 

In Support of Strategic Plan Priorities and Objectives 

Good Governance – ensure transparency, clear communication, prudent financial 
management  
Inclusive & Supportive Community – support efforts to address current & future needs 
for a livable community  

Respectfully Submitted By: 

Sonya Pritchard
Chief Administrative Officer 



 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 
 

 

 
 

 
 

 

 
 

 

 
 

 
 

 

 

 

REPORT TO COUNCIL 

Headwaters Communities in Action 

Representative: Councillor Philip Rentsch 
Meeting report of January 2023 

Highlights: Welcome Councillor Rentsch to the HCIA Leadership Council. DC Community Grants 
2023 round launches. HFFA Winter Harvest Dinner Series launches, Ag RoundTables resume with 
EcDev, Farm to School partners on new food literacy/STEM curriculum and launches Community 
Connector program; Volunteer Dufferin ramps up outreach and considers expansion; CSWB 
plans for next version of report/community consultation; DCEC/HFFA connect with Lived 
Experience and food insecurity. 

Primary Activities:
HCIA Partnership Agreement 
HCIA Admin: 

● HCIA welcomes Councillor Philip Rentsch as our newly appointed member of the HCIA 
Leadership Council, succeeding Darren White. 

● HCIA Executive Director Jennifer Payne renewed for second term as Co-Chair of Dufferin 
County Community Safety and Wellbeing Integration Table, along with Anna 
McGregor. Looking at data management/access options and meeting Feb. 1 to discuss 
general public survey and consultation approach in preparation for 2024 report. 

● HCIA continues work through a strategic planning process. This project is supported with 
funding from Ontario Trillium Foundation. 

● Attended inaugural County meeting at Monora Park Dec. 8 2022 and MCR public 
consultation at Zina St. Jan 21, 2023. 

● “Better Together Breakfast Club” (BTBG) initiated to discuss shared mandate and goals 
among projects hosted on HCIA backbone, and look for ways to work together and build 
capacity for all. 

● 2022 Year-End presentation on DC-HCIA partnership agreement to General Government 
Services Committee scheduled for February meeting. 

Our Vision: Engaged citizens shaping a vibrant, sustainable, and resilient community together. 



   
 
 
 

 
 

 

 

 
 

   
 

 
 

 
  
 

 

 
 

 
 

 
   

 

 
 

 
 

 

Reports from Outside Boards - HCIA Page 2 of 3 

PROJECT NEWS: 
● Dufferin County Community Grants: 2023 round launched January 30 and is being 

widely promoted through all HCIA networks and channels. Criteria has been adjusted 
slightly in response to feedback from past applicants, assessment team observations and 
input from County Council members and staff. Many productive suggestions were 
gathered, and good discussion generated. 2022 grant recipient stories continue to be 
shared via the HCIA website, promoting the 2023 applications process. Applications are 
due Feb. 27. Recommendations report scheduled to be presented to General 
Government Services Committee at their March or April meeting, depending on the 
number of applications that need to be assessed. Assessment team is being assembled, 
with targeted outreach to increase diversity and inclusion. 

● Volunteer Dufferin: 
○ Stats: 2,426 individuals; 155 organizations; 42 active opportunities on 

volunteerdufferin.ca 
○ Applied for funding for Boardward Bound program pairing youth and seniors in 

mentorship for serving on local nonprofit boards – an emerging issue among 
organizations. 

○ Partnering on Nonprofit Appreciation Week campaign. 
○ Promotion and outreach to Georgian College, school boards, Dufferin Board of 

Trade as well as local media, newspapers and TV. 
○ Developing “wish list” of features and potential redesign/expansion of Volunteer 

Dufferin to encourage other types of community engagement and ways of 
connecting, while continuing to promote volunteerism and its benefits. 

○ Advisory council had inaugural meeting, adding Leadership Council members 
Gord Gallaugher and Errol Chambers, discussing 2023 vision and goals. 

○ Quarterly newsletters to resume and surveys are being developed for upcoming 
annual member outreach. 

● HFFA and Farm to School: 
○ HFFA Winter Harvest Dinner Series 2023 has launched starting with Jan. 21 at 

Shelburne Golf & Country Club. Tickets for Feb, Mar and Apr dinners available 
now at https://headwatersfoodandfarming.square.site/. 

○ The School Food Learning Circle has launched a Community Connector program 
to help 15 local schools facilitate Farm to School activities. Website 
improvements for hffa.ca/farmtoschool continue to represent new offerings from 
F2S (CC program, downloadable lesson plans, Big Fresh Goal). Partnership with 
Sustain Ontario publishing Food Literacy resources for new STEM Curriculum in 
Ontario, expected February. 

○ Agriculture RoundTables resumed in partnership with Cody Joudry - January 30 
on topic of Inflation. Exploring possibility of an in-person event with farmers in 
March. 

Our Vision: Engaged citizens shaping a vibrant, sustainable and resilient community together. 

https://headwatersfoodandfarming.square.site
http:volunteerdufferin.ca


   
 
 
 

 
 

 

 

 
 

 
 

  
  
  

 

Reports from Outside Boards - HCIA Page 3 of 3 

○ Connecting with DCEC Health Equity Working Group on their Food baskets 
subcommittee to brainstorm about food baskets and adaptation of Local Food 
Club. 

○ HFFA Hub meets next on February 3 10am to noon. Guy Guardhouse and Philip 
Rentsch being approached to fill vacant Municipal Representative seat on Hub 
membership. 

DC MOVES (Partnership under Community Services) 
 Re-creating DC MOVES strategy will continue in March forum. 
 DCEC Report to community underway after successful in-person check in Jan 16. 
 Partners With Lived Experience: Coordinator Siobhan connects weekly with the group,

who are eager to consult and give input to the work groups. Health Equity work group 
connected with HFFA to explore how to make food baskets available for those 
experiencing food insecurity via agencies throughout the community. A subcommittee 
has been struck. 

Our Vision: Engaged citizens shaping a vibrant, sustainable and resilient community together. 



 

 

   

 
 

 

 

 

 

Report To: Warden Mills and Members of County Council 
Meeting Date: February 9, 2023 

Subject: Additional Staffing Requirements - 2023 DRAFT Budget 

From: Sonya Pritchard, Chief Administrative Officer 

Recommendation 

THAT the report of the Chief Administrative Officer, dated February 9, 2023, 
regarding Additional Staffing Requirements - 2023 DRAFT Budget, be received. 

Executive Summary 

The purpose of this report is to provide supplementary information to outline how and 
why additional staffing requirements are proposed in the 2023 DRAFT Budget. The 2023 
DRAFT budget includes 6 new positions and additional housekeeping hours at Dufferin
Oaks for a cost of $525,000. These positions are all in areas experiencing significant
capacity constraints that are impacting service delivery. 

Background & Discussion 

Throughout the year, the Senior Leadership Team meets bi-weekly to review upcoming
initiatives, operational objectives, opportunities, challenges, and staff well-being at both 
the corporate and departmental levels. Through these discussions the ability to provide 
services in an effective and responsible manner is a consistent thread. Many factors impact 
service delivery from legislative requirements to strategic priorities to the availability of 
supplies and equipment, and staff vacancies. Despite the different requirements of each
operational area, staff capacity has long been a concern throughout the organization and 
has been identified by various reviews and assessments. 

Some of these capacity issues have been addressed over the past several years and these 
enhancements have had a significant impact on service delivery. For example, additional
human resources staff dedicated to recruiting at Dufferin Oaks has ensured front line staff 
positions are filled more quickly and Dufferin Oaks has been able to come closer to 
meeting the target of an average of 4 hours per day of care per resident. In the 



 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

Additional Staffing Requirements – 2023 DRAFT Budget Page 2 of 3 

Transportation/Operations Division of Public Works increasing the number of full-time
operators (instead of winter and summer seasonal positions) has significantly improved 
the amount of turnover and the need to constantly search for more temporary staff. 

Capacity issues continue to persist in other areas and are being exacerbated by outside 
influences and factors. Changes to provincial policy and increases in development activity 
require additional staff time and expertise to meet timelines around development review.
A tight labour market, wide-spread recruiting challenges, and increased staff turnover 
require additional effort to onboard and offboard employees through the payroll system. 
Service commitments to municipal partners along with increased pressures and workload 
related to cybersecurity require additional technology support and monitoring. Changes 
to provincial requirements around infection control in long term care needs qualified 
dedicated resources to meet the expectations. 

Departments do not work in isolation, information and outputs from one department are
often required for another area to provide the service they are responsible for.  There is 
considerable inter-connectedness and understanding the overall impact is key. In many 
cases a shortage of staff resources in one area negatively impacts other areas of the
organization and creates a cumulative impact on service delivery.  These matters are 
regularly topics of conversation at the senior leadership meetings. In the fall of 2022, the 
team went through an exercise to determine how often they were being forced to set
aside the more strategic responsibilities that are an integral part of their roles to take on 
additional tasks in order to alleviate pressure from their teams. For all Department Heads 
this is a regular occurrence.  The same lack of capacity then leads managers to take on 
additional duties and so on for front-line staff. Lack of capacity not only impacts the 
identified role but means other responsibilities cannot be addressed. Prioritization is an
important part of managers and leaders’ responsibilities but often this means postponing 
work and initiatives for months and even years. 

Recommendations with respect to additional staffing requirements are carefully 
considered within the context of overall operational needs and the impact on service 
delivery across the board. Every effort is made to accommodate increased demands within 
the current staffing compliment by shifting some responsibilities or improving processes. 
However, there is a point where incremental adjustments are no longer possible or
sufficient and at that point there needs to be an increase in resources or a reduction in 
service level. Unfortunately, some of the additional staffing requirements proposed in the 
DRAFT 2023 budget are in areas where the service level has already declined – not from 
lack of skill, effort or dedication but from lack of time. Staff in several areas work 
considerable overtime (some without request for compensation). A decrease in service 



 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 
 

 

Additional Staffing Requirements – 2023 DRAFT Budget Page 3 of 3 

level can be the right solution; however, with items like development review there are 
legislated timelines that must be adhered to and which may result in financial penalties 
going forward. Changes to service level should be an intentional decision and not one 
that evolves due to lack of capacity and resources. 

Financial, Staffing, Legal, or IT Considerations 

The DRAFT 2023 Budget proposes 6 new positions and an increase in housekeeping hours 
at Dufferin Oaks as additional staffing requirements. Details about each position are 
provided in the Department budgets for each committee. 

In Support of Strategic Plan Priorities and Objectives  

Good Governance – ensure transparency, clear communication, prudent financial 
management 

Respectfully Submitted By: 

Sonya Pritchard
Chief Administrative Officer 



 
 

 

 

 
 

 
  

 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
             

CORPORATION OF THE COUNTY OF DUFFERIN 

BY-LAW NUMBER 2023-07 

A BY-LAW TO RATIFY THE ACTIONS OF THE WARDEN AND 
CLERK FOR EXECUTING AN AGREEMENT BETWEEN THE 
CORPORATION OF THE COUNTY OF DUFFERIN AND HILLS OF 
HEADWATERS COLLABORATIVE ONTARIO HEALTH TEAM. 
(Collaboration Agreement) 

BE IT ENACTED BY THE MUNICIPAL COUNCIL OF THE CORPORATION OF THE COUNTY OF 
DUFFERIN AS FOLLOWS: 

1. That the agreement between the County of Dufferin and Hills of Headwaters
Collaborative Ontario Health Team, in a form substantially the same as attached 
hereto as Schedule “A” be approved. 

2. That the staff of the County of Dufferin is hereby authorized to take such actions as 
are appropriate, and the Warden and Clerk are hereby authorized to ratify such 
documents as are appropriate to implement the agreement referred to herein. 

READ a first, second and third time and finally passed this 9th day of February, 2023. 

Wade Mills, Warden     Michelle Dunne, Clerk 









































































 
 

 

  

 
 

 

 

 

 
 

 
 
 
             

CORPORATION OF THE COUNTY OF DUFFERIN 

BY-LAW NUMBER 2023-08 

A BY-LAW TO AUTHORIZE THE WARDEN AND THE CLERK TO 
EXECUTE AN AGREEMENT BETWEEN THE CORPORATION OF THE 
COUNTY OF DUFFERIN AND HIS MAJESTY THE KING IN RIGHT OF 
ONTARIO AS REPRESENTED BY THE MINISTER OF MUNICIPAL 
AFFAIRS AND HOUSING. (Municipal Modernization Funding 
Amending Transfer Payment Agreement) 

BE IT ENACTED BY THE MUNICIPAL COUNCIL OF THE CORPORATION OF THE COUNTY 
OF DUFFERIN AS FOLLOWS: 

1. That the Agreement between the County of Dufferin and His Majesty the King in 
Right of Ontario as represented by the Minister of Municipal Affairs and Housing, 
in a form substantially the same as attached hereto as Schedule “A” be approved. 

2. That the staff of the County of Dufferin is hereby authorized to take such actions 
as are appropriate, and the Warden and Clerk are herby authorized to execute 
such documents as are appropriate to implement the agreement referred to
herein. 

READ a first, second and third time and finally passed this 9th day of February, 2023. 

Wade Mills, Warden     Michelle Dunne, Clerk 









 
 

 

 

 
 

 
  

 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
             

CORPORATION OF THE COUNTY OF DUFFERIN 

BY-LAW NUMBER 2023-09 

A BY-LAW TO RATIFY THE ACTIONS OF THE WARDEN AND 
CLERK FOR EXECUTING AN AGREEMENT BETWEEN THE 
CORPORATION OF THE COUNTY OF DUFFERIN AND FAMILY 
TRANSITION PLACE. (Lease Agreement – Mel Lloyd Centre) 

BE IT ENACTED BY THE MUNICIPAL COUNCIL OF THE CORPORATION OF THE COUNTY OF 
DUFFERIN AS FOLLOWS: 

1. That the agreement between the County of Dufferin and Services and Family
Transition Place, in a form substantially the same as attached hereto as Schedule “A” 
be approved. 

2. That the staff of the County of Dufferin is hereby authorized to take such actions as 
are appropriate, and the Warden and Clerk are hereby authorized to ratify such 
documents as are appropriate to implement the agreement referred to herein. 

READ a first, second and third time and finally passed this 12th day of January, 2023. 

Wade Mills, Warden     Michelle Dunne, Clerk 



























































































 

 

 
 

 
 

 

 

 
 

 

  

 

 
 
 

    

CORPORATION OF THE COUNTY OF DUFFERIN 

BY-LAW NUMBER 2023-xx 

A BY-LAW TO CONFIRM THE PROCEEDINGS OF THE 
COUNCIL OF THE CORPORATION OF THE COUNTY 
OF DUFFERIN AT ITS MEETING HELD ON FEBRUARY 
9, 2023. 

WHEREAS Section 5 (1) of the Municipal Act, 2001, as amended, provides that the powers of 
a municipality shall be exercised by its Council; 

AND WHEREAS Section 5 (3) of the Municipal Act, 2001, as amended, provides that municipal 
powers shall be exercised by by-law; 

NOW THEREFORE BE IT ENACTED BY THE MUNICIPAL COUNCIL OF THE CORPORATION 
OF THE COUNTY OF DUFFERIN ENACTS AS FOLLOWS: 

1. All actions of the Council of the Corporation of the County of Dufferin at its 
meetings held on February 9, 2023 in respect to every report, motion, by-law, or 
other action passed and taken by the Council, including the exercise of natural
person powers, are hereby adopted, ratified and confirmed as if each report, 
motion, resolution or other action was adopted, ratified and confirmed by its 
separate by-law. 

2. The Warden of the Council and the proper officers of the Corporation of the County
of Dufferin are hereby authorized and directed to do all things necessary to give 
effect to the said action, to obtain approvals where required and except where 
otherwise provided, to execute all documents necessary in that behalf. 

READ a first, second and third time and finally passed this 9th day of February, 2023. 

_________________________________    _________________________________ 
Wade Mills, Warden   Michelle Dunne, Clerk 


	2023-02-09 Council Agenda
	Item #4 - 2023-01-12 Council Minutes
	Return to Agenda
	Item #5.2 - Non-Profit Appreciation Week
	Return to Agenda
	Item #7.1 - 2023-01-26 Infrastructure and Environmental Services Minutes
	Return to Agenda
	Item #7.2 - 2023-01-26 General Government Services Minutes
	Return to Agenda
	Item #7.3 - 2023-01-26 Health and Human Services Minutes
	Return to Agenda
	Item #7.4 - 2023-01-26 Community Development and Tourism Minutes
	Return to Agenda
	Item #7.5 - Request for Continuation of Funding - Family Transition Place
	Return to Agenda
	Item #7.6 - Community Paramedic Donations
	Return to Agenda
	Item #7.7 - On-Demand Transit Pilot Project
	Return to Agenda
	Item #7.9 - Monthly Report from Outside Boards
	Return to Agenda
	Item #7.10 - Additional Staffing Requirements - 2023 DRAFT Budget
	Return to Agenda
	Item #12 - By-Law 2023-07 - Hills of Headwaters Collaborative Ontario Health Team - Colloraboration Amending Agreement
	Return to Agenda
	Item #12 - By-Law 2023-08 - Municipal Moderinization Program Funding Amending Transfer Payment Agreement
	Return to Agenda
	Item #12 - By-Law 2023-09 Family Transition Place Lease (Mel Lloyd Centre)
	Return to Agenda
	Item #14 - By-Law 2023-xx Confirmatory By-Law - February 9, 2023
	Return to Agenda



